
CITY OF MIDDLETOWN 
PLANNING BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

DECEMBER 3, 2025 7:00 PM 
COMMON COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
AND VIA DIGITAL TOWN HALL  

Meeting Called By: Anthony Capozella, Planning Board Commissioner 
Clerk:                       Martina Tu, Clerk 
 
Members: Dan Higbie, Richard McCormack, Gretchen Witt, Anthony Capozella, Andy Britto, Dave 
Madden, Yasmin Dupre 

[IGNORE_INDENT]  
1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. ROLL CALL 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 3.1. Accept the Minutes of November 5, 2025 

4. NEW BUSINESS 

   Request of Bell Flavors and Fragrances, Inc., seeking a special use permit and site 
plan approval for a building expansion/connection located at 12 Sprague Avenue, 
Middletown 

   Request of Dreamfields, Inc., seeking a special use permit and site plan approval 
for manufacturing and distribution of cannabis products, located at 55 Midland 
Avenue Ext., Middletown 

   Request of Middletown Commons LLC., seeking a special use permit and site plan 
approval for a development of 150 residential units and approximately 27,000 sq. ft. 
of commercial space, located at 203-231 Dolson Avenue, Middletown 

   Request of Sarah Bauersachs, seeking a site plan approval and a special use permit 
to have an eating and drinking establishment (acai/smoothie shop) located at 23-27 
West Main Street, Middletown 

   Request of BDK Masonry and Construction Corp. seeking a special use permit and 
site plan approval for an eating and drinking establishment with beer and wine, 
located at 101 North Street, Middletown 

   Request of Kai Lee and Courtenay Irving, seeking a site plan approval and a special 
use permit to have an art studio located at 41 Fulton Street, Middletown 

   Request of Allen Alvarez Gonzalez, seeking a special use permit and site plan 
approval for grocery, deli, coffee shop, UPS and Amazon drop off and Western 
Union service, located at 154 Wickham Avenue, Middletown 

   Request of Jean Ketlet Clerger, seeking a special use permit and site plan approval 



for a barbershop, located at 30-32 East Main Street, Middletown 

   Request of Colin M. Smith, seeking a site plan approval and a special use permit to 
have an eating and drinking establishment with a full liquor license located at 28-30 
West Main Street, Middletown 

   Request of Angel Gonzalez, seeking a site plan approval and a special use permit to 
have an eating and drinking establishment located at 79 West Main Street, 
Middletown. Section 31, Block 12, Lot 2. 

5. ADJOURNMENT 
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CITY OF MIDDLETOWN 
PLANNING BOARD 

MINUTES 
 

November 5, 2025 
 

A meeting of the Planning Board was held in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, 16 
James Street, Middletown, New York on November 5, 2025 at 7:00 P.M., Mr. Anthony 
Capozella presiding. 
 
Members Present:  Richard McCormack, Andy Britto, David Madden, Dan Higbie, Yasmin 
Dupre, Gretchen Witt. 
 
Other Attendees:  Sixto Martinez, Building Inspector, Andrew Witkowski, Fire Inspector, 
Richard J. Croughan, Planning Board Attorney. 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was said. 
 
Motion to accept the October 1, 2025 minutes by Mr. Britto, seconded by Ms. Dupre. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
Mr. Capozella pointed out that all first-time applicant appearances are considered a preliminary 
hearing and the Planning Board may or may not chose to act or vote on those applications 
tonight. 
 
Sobo & Sobo Holdings 
20 Preston Street 
Referral to ZBA 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Good evening, sir. 
 
Mr. Sobo:  Good evening.  Good evening, all. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  State your name for the record. 
 
Mr. Sobo:  Gary Sobo of Sobo & Sobo. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  And your intentions. 
 
Mr. Sobo:  We are here for an application on 20 Preston Street. We would like to use it as kind 
of law office adjacent. It’s a prior car body shop and other things, but that’s I think what it was 
mostly. 
 What we are going to do is move our mail operation in there, mail sorting, and also we 
have people who do maintenance on our buildings, and we’re going to move them in there too. 
So a total of six people. 
 My problem is that we don’t have enough setback, and it’s an existing building, so I 
really do need you to deny me and send me to the ZBA. 
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Mr. Croughan:  Well, I don’t think you need that, Mr. Sobo. What you’re looking for is a referral 
to the ZBA. 
 
Mr. Sobo:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  And that’s something the Board can consider. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Right. 
 
Mr. Sobo:  Right. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  And that’s our goal for this evening. 
 
Mr. Sobo:  Are there any questions though on the major application while we’re all here? 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Well, I think the first order of business would be to open it to the public. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yeah.  I have to open the public hearing. First of all, the order of business is, Ms. 
Tu, do we have the mailings? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Do we have anything in writing? 
 
Ms. Tu:  No. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Then I can open the public hearing. Anyone here wishing to address this 
application, please step forward. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  No one stepping forward, I’ll go to the Board for any questions, comments, or 
concerns. 
 As Mr. Croughan just said, this is not a denial, but we have to refer this issue to the 
Zoning Board so that all the issues can be cleared up, and then he’ll have to come back to us to 
get Planning Board approval. 
 
Mr. Sobo:  Correct. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Sobo would have to go to the Zoning Board of Appeals for an area variance, 
so before we can vote on his application, it would first have to go to the ZBA as a referral from 
this Board. 
 But before that, Mr. Martinez, any concerns? 
 
Mr. Martinez:  There’s a building permit application in place, which I’m waiting obviously for 
the approvals. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Thank you. Mr. Witkowski, any concerns? 
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Mr. Witkowski:  Nothing at this time. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  All right. I’ll go back to the public hearing one more time. Anyone here wishing 
to address this application, please step forward. 
 No one stepping forward, I’m going to ask for a motion to close the public -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  No. You want to keep it open. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Oh, I have to keep it open? 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Right. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Even though he’s coming back? 
 
Mr. Croughan:  For future consider. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Then we will keep it open for future consideration. I don’t need a vote 
then; right? We’re not closing it. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  No. You can make a motion to keep it open for future consideration, and then 
when the applicant gets his decision from the ZBA, either it would come back to us or it may be 
moot. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  All right. On counsel’s recommendation, I need a motion to keep the public 
hearing open. 
 
Motion to keep the public hearing open by Mr. Madden, seconded by Mr. McCormack. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
The public hearing was kept open. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Mr. Sobo, we’ll see you soon. 
 
Mr. Sobo:  I hope so. Thank you very much. 
 
Laura Scott 
45-53 North Street 
Full liquor license 
 
Ms. Scott:  Hi. I am Laura Scott, and this is Trace Martin. We are the owners of Oak & Reed, 
and we are looking for apply for our full liquor license. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Ms. Tu, do we have the mailings? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
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Mr. Capozella:  Great. Do we have anything in writing? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  I needed you to remind me. First of all, I’m going to open the public hearing. 
Anyone present wishing to step forward to address this application. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  No. Okay. I’m going to read something into the record. I do have something in 
writing; okay? This is from Reverend Sarrazin. 
 

Dear Planning Board, 
 
I will not be able to attend the planning board meeting on Wednesday 
November 5th but I do wish to make a statement in support of granting the full 
liquor license for Laura Scott, Oak & Reed Restaurant.  Laura, her family and the 
whole team they have assembled at Oak & Reed, have been the very best of 
neighbors with a deep commitment to the common good of our community.  I 
fully support the granting of a full liquor license and have every confidence that 
they will continue to be run the business with the same community minded 
dedication they have manifested from the beginning. 
 
Thank you for your time, 
Fr. Victor Sarrazin 
 
The Rev. Victor Sarrazin (He/Him) 
Rector 
Grace Episcopal Church 
845-343-6101 
12 Depot St. Middletown, NY 10940 
GraceChurchMiddletown.org 

 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. That’s into the record. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  And again, just so the Board is aware, this is the result of what the Common 
Council had, well, the State of New York had approved and the Common Council adopted, so 
that’s why this application is here, just like the two other applications. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  And it’s fully been vetted by the City through their criteria that’s been 
maintained. 
 Anyone else from the public wishing to address this application, please step forward. I’ll 
go to the Board. Any comments, questions, or concerns? 
 All right. None being had, anyone from the public? 
 
Motion to close by the public hearing by Mr. Britto, seconded by Ms. Dupre. 
 
Motion passed. 
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The public hearing was closed. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  All right. Moving on, I’ll give the Board one more time, one more chance. Any 
comments, questions, or concerns? None being had, we’ll go to the resolution. 
 
Resolution for Laura Scott, 45-53 North Street, full liquor license. Motion by Ms. Witt, seconded 
by Mr. Higbie. 
 
Roll Call Ayes:  David Madden, Richard McCormack, Andy Britto, Gretchen Witt, Yasmin 
Dupre, Dan Higbie, Anthony Capozella. 
 
I’Jala Wilson Retriegue 
39 North Street 
Educational facility for adults 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Please step forward. 
 
Ms. Retriegue:  Good evening, everyone. My name is I’Jala Wilson Retriegue, and I’m the 
owner of Get Flawless by I’Jala Hair and Beauty Salon located at 41 North Street. 
 We are now looking to open up a textured hair school at 39 North Street for adults, and 
also we are partnered up with BOCES, so we will be recruiting students from them as well as 
Capri Cosmetology School. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Great. Thank you. Ms. Tu, do we have the mailings? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Do we have anything in writing? 
 
Ms. Tu:  No. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Then I’m going to open the public hearing, go to the public. Anyone here 
wishing to comment on this application, please step forward. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  No one stepping forward, I will go to the Board for any questions, comments, or 
concerns. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Martinez, any concerns? 
 
Mr. Martinez:  No concerns. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Witkowski, any concerns? 
 
Mr. Witkowski:  No concerns. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Thank you. 
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Mr. Capozella:  I’ll go back to the public one more time. Anyone wishing to address this 
application, please step forward. No one coming forward, I need a motion to close the public 
hearing. 
 
Motion to close by the public hearing by Mr. Madden, seconded by Ms. Witt. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  I’ll go to the Board thought for any questions, comments, or concerns one more 
time. 
 
Resolution for I’Jala Wilson Retriegue, 39 North Street, educational facility for adults. Motion 
by Mr. Britto, seconded by Ms. Dupre. 
 
Roll Call Ayes:  David Madden, Richard McCormack, Andy Britto, Gretchen Witt, Yasmin 
Dupre, Dan Higbie, Anthony Capozella. 
 
Maricela Godinez 
99 North Street 
Eating and drinking establishment (beer & wine) 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Hi. Good evening. My name is Daisy Avalos. I’m here for 99 North Street. We’re 
proposing to open a sports bar/restaurant. It’s located inside of a store technically, but we’re 
dividing the business into two. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. That’s fine. Ms. Tu, do we have the mailings? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  And we do have something in writing, but I’ll open the public hearing first. 
Anyone from the public wishing to address on this application, please step forward. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  No one coming forward, I’m going to read something into the record that was 
sent to us by one of your neighbors. 
 

I am sorry I will not be able to make the meeting. I have a few questions and 
concerns regarding the application. Maybe if I was able to attend the meeting 
some of my questions would be answered. I hope that someone will be able to 
send me the minutes or replies to my questions.  
 
1. I WOULD LIKE TO KNOW THE DAYS AND TIMES OPEN FOR THIS 
ESTABLISHMENT? 
2. IF OPEN AFTER 10PM, WOULD THE ESTABLISHMENT BECOME 
A  DRINKING ESTABLISHMENT (IE BAR)  
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3. I AM AWARE THE APPLICANT IS SEEKING A BEER AND WINE ONLY 
LIC, BUT AFTER PLANNING BOARD APPROVAL, COULD THE 
APPLICANT SEEK A FULL LIQUOR LIC. ? 
4. WHERE WOULD BE THE FRONT AND REAR ENTRANCE TO THIS 
ESTABLISHMENT? 
 
My biggest concern is that the establishment would become an after party location 
and nothing good ever comes from a location as such.  
 
Thank you. 
 

Mr. Capozella:  I don’t really know the person’s name. It just has an email, and it’s Kevin. 
 So, I don’t know, do we want to address those issues right now? Okay. We can do that. 
It’s actually in the resolution, but we can go through it for the record. 
 So what days and times will you be open? 
 
Ms. Avalos:  So we would be open -- we’re looking to be open the seven days. It’s mainly a 
restaurant. The sports bar we added as kind of like a way to have like TVs up, and since we will 
be offering hopefully wine and beer, that’s the reason why we kind of called it a sports bar. 
 The full liquor license we were trying to see maybe in the near future to apply for a full 
liquor license, but I believe we would be closing around midnight. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  All right. Well, to answer part of your question, according to the resolution, 
based on your application, your hours of operation are 8:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m., seven days a 
week, daily. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Right. Yeah. So 11:00 p.m. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. So that’s the way it’s going to read in your resolution. That’s the hours 
you’ll have to keep. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay? If open after 10:00 p.m., would the establishment become a drinking 
establishment, i.e. bar? Well, you’re going to be open after 10:00. You’re going to be open till 
11:00, so -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  And it will still be a bar/restaurant. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  It’ll still be a bar no matter what, restaurant. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Right. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. And you’re seeking a beer and wine only. That’s because that’s all you 
can apply for at this time. 
Ms. Avalos:  Correct. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  And, of course, you can seek a full liquor license, but you have to meet the 
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criteria the City has, and one of the first criteria is you have to be there for a minimum of five 
years, so we may see you in five years for your full liquor license. Other than that, you can’t 
even apply at this point in time. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Right. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  And then you would have to come back to the Planning Board. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Right. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Right. Yeah. That’s why I mentioned probably in the near future, but not right now. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Near future being five years. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Five years. Well, yeah, not that near. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  And the last question. Where would be the front and rear entrance to this 
establishment? Well, the front entrance is off of North Street; correct? 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Correct. Yeah. It’s right next door to Victor’s Market. I don’t know if you guys are 
familiar. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. And there really is no rear entrance. There’s only an exit. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Yeah. Just an emergency exit. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yeah. And just for the Board and for the public, that rear exit is for emergency 
purposes only, not to be used as an everyday access or egress. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  No. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay? So I think we’ve addressed this person’s concerns. 
 I’ll go back to the public. Anyone have any issues or wishing to address this application, 
please step forward. 
 Anyone form the Board have any questions, comments, or concerns? 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. McCormack does. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yes. 
 
Mr. McCormack:  The resolution reads that she’s applying for a beer/wine/liquor license. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yup. 
Mr. Croughan:  It’s only beer and wine. 
 
Mr. McCormack:  It’s only beer and wine. 
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Mr. Capozella:  That’s correct. 
 
Mr. McCormack:  The resolution says beer/wine/liquor. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  That’s all she’s applying for; correct? Beer and wine. 
 
Mr. McCormack:  It says establishment, beer and wine liquor license. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  I guess that’s semantics, but -- 
 
Mr. McCormack:  I’m not comfortable with the word liquor being in there. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  We can remove it. 
 
Mr. McCormack:  Mr. Croughan, it’s usually just a beer and wine license. It’s  
not -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  I guess we have to watch that doing the resolutions going forward, I guess. So let 
me wrap up the -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Well, Mr. Martinez, any comments? 
 
Mr. Martinez:  No. All issues have been resolved through Mr. Witkowski and I with the building 
and the fire escape have been resolved. All items have been resolved. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Thank you. And Mr. Witkowski? 
 
Mr. Witkowski:  I concur. We’ve met with the property owner several times to address the issues 
that were at hand, and everybody’s agreeing going forward. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Great. Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Anyone from the public wishing to address this application, please step 
forward. No one coming forward, I need a motion to close the -- do you have another question? 
 
Mr. McCormack:  I do. I’m sorry. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  I’m sorry. Go ahead. 
 
Mr. McCormack:  Will you guys have security? So sometimes, you know, there have been other 
establishments that you put the word sports bar into the title and what the function of the 
business was that has caused problems in other parts of the area, so I just want to see if you guys 
are prepared to address those types of issues going forward. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  I mean, I feel like security would -- well, I don’t know if it would be needed if we 



11/05/2025 Page 10 
 

were to have extended hours to like 2:00 a.m., like more later times, but since we’re only going 
to be open till maybe 11:00, I don’t know if we really will need it. But, I mean, if we see that we 
need it, we definitely will get it for sure. 
 
Mr. McCormack:  Okay. Thank you. 
 
Ms. Avalos:  Mm-hmm. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Mr. McCormack -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. McCormack, are you satisfied? 
 
Mr. McCormack:  I’m good now. Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Anyone else? Ms. Witt. 
 
Ms. Witt:  I’m just not addressing you. I’m just saying are we going to be able to provide copies 
of the minutes to the gentleman who sent in his questions? 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Sure. Oh, yeah. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Yes, we can. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yup. That’s why we read them in, and that’s why we actually answered the 
questions so that he’ll see that specific section. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  And hopefully he can watch the video. 
 
Ms. Witt:  Of course. Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  All right. Closing the public hearing, I need a motion. 
 
Motion to close by the public hearing by Mr. McCormack, seconded by Mr. Madden. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  I’ll give the Board one more chance, questions, comments, concerns? 
 
Amend resolution for Maricela Godinez, 99 North Street, eating and drinking establishment to 
read beer and wine only -- strike liquor. Motion by Mr. Britto, seconded by Mr. McCormack. 
 
Roll Call Ayes:  David Madden, Richard McCormack, Andy Britto, Gretchen Witt, Yasmin 
Dupre, Dan Higbie, Anthony Capozella. 
Amended resolution for Maricela Godinez, 99 North Street, eating and drinking establishment 
(beer and wine). Motion by Mr. Madden, seconded by Ms. Witt. 
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Roll Call Ayes:  David Madden, Richard McCormack, Andy Britto, Gretchen Witt, Yasmin 
Dupre, Dan Higbie, Anthony Capozella. 
 
 
Dewitt Acquisitions 
16-18 County Route 78 
Gas station and convenience store 
 
Mr. Lee:  Good evening, everyone. My names is James Lee here for the applicant. I understand 
the previous submissions have been all made and other following discussions. We are here for 
the public hearing tonight. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  That is correct. Ms. Tu, do we have the mailings? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  And we do have something in writing, but I’m going to open the public hearing 
first, go the public. Anyone here wishing to address this application, please step forward. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yes, sir. 
 
Mr. Gates:  Hi. Good evening. I don’t know if that letter is the one I sent in this afternoon or -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Depends who you are. 
 
Mr. Gates:  My name is Christian Gates. I’m an associate with Keane & Beane, and our office 
represents Gas Land Petroleum, which is a nearby property. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  We are in receipt of that letter. 
 
Mr. Gates:  Okay. Excellent. I do have copies here if -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  It’s been circulated to the Board as well. 
 
Mr. Gates:  Thank you. So I would like to first discuss some concerns that we had that our 
client’s retained engineer had regarding traffic and stormwater and just a concern that the 
application, there still needs to be more information for this Board to have a full and complete 
review and to ensure that the public safety regarding traffic, vehicles turning off of County 
Highway 78, can do so safely as well as internal circulation in the unfortunate event of any type 
of fire. The internal circulation looks like there’s zero margin of error for the tanker truck. 
 And so we would just ask that the public hearing remain open. I’ll get to some of the 
issues more in detail in a second, but that the public hearing remain open so that the applicant 
can respond to these concerns and issues as well as allow the Planning Board to have time to 
consider them. 
 And so one thing important I believe that this should not be considered as a continuation 
of an existing use. The former gas station that was there I believe closed its doors approximately 
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20 years ago. It is not a simple continuation. 
 There’s going to be a new canopy that is approximately four times the size of the 
previous one. There’s going to be three new underground storage tanks. There was also a County 
referral response letter which raised some concerns about stormwater as well as the tanks being 
double lined. 
 So I’ll just briefly go over some of the concerns and again ask that this Board request that 
the applicant address those concerns before moving forward. 
 So with respect to a jurisdictional determination from the DEC that is required as of 
January 1st, 2025, I believe maybe either might be a consideration of considering this as just a 
continuation of a gas station that closed 20 years ago as perhaps a way where a jurisdictional 
determination wouldn’t be necessary. We respectfully disagree and believe that the applicant 
needs to ask for that determination. If the DEC doesn’t give a determination within 90 days, then 
it can move forward. 
 Secondly, we would also like for there to be a traffic study. Our client’s property is right 
next door. There’s concerns about safety of their customers from turning and traffic, that there 
could be an accident. It’s a very busy intersection. It’s a very busy highway. It’s only a two-lane 
highway. There’s no dedicated turning route, and also the curb cut is a bit small there, so we 
would ask that a traffic study incorporate site lines as well as making sure that the curb cut is 
large enough for emergency vehicles, a tanker, and just that there’s not going to be a queue 
where vehicles back up on 78 and cause a pileup that would be unfortunate, and we don’t want to 
potentially jeopardize the public as well as our client’s customers. 
 Secondly, I would like to discuss -- we believe that there should be a grading and erosion 
sediment control plan. We understand from the plans that were on the Planning Board’s website 
that a significant amount of soil is going to be removed from the back. When I looked at the 
DEC mapper, which again you need a determination now to ascertain whether or not you need a 
wetland permit, looks like half the property is within an informational freshwater wetland, so that 
is a starting point that if all of that is going to be excavated in order to give more room back 
there, that there should be a proper grading and soil erosion. Our client is downwind of this and 
wouldn’t want any adverse impacts to them. 
 Again, with a tanker on the diagram, it’s apparently pretty small. I’m not an expert in 
that, but our client’s expert engineer does not believe that it corresponds to industry norm, that 
the tanker that is being proposed is a lot smaller than one that would normally be used, so if the 
applicant does end up using a normal size tanker, which I believe is about 15 to 20 feet longer, 
how would that affect internal circulation, how would that affect vehicles turning into the 
property off of 98 or exiting the property and turning on -- I’m sorry -- 78. 
 And then again, stormwater is a big concern. Because our client is downstream that there 
be proper pollution prevention, utilities installed. I don’t believe that there’s any currently on the 
property. This would be a good opportunity to require some. Again, there will be excavation in 
the back. If there is stormwater runoff and contamination from any spills, we wouldn’t want that 
to get into the soil, again roll downhill into our client’s property or just affect the environment. I 
think that there should be additional measures to make sure that there’s no pollution there. 
 And then that goes to the County referral response letter, which was issued on October 
1st, and they opined that gasoline stations are considered hot spots for pollution prevention, and 
that the Board is recommended to incorporate sufficient pollution prevention plans. 
 And again, another concern is that a tanker would be queuing behind two fuel pumps 
either to enter the property or exit the property on both ends, and that doesn’t seem to have any 
margin of error. If there’s a vehicle there, the tanker can’t get through. If the tanker is trying to 
swing around, there’s not really any margin of error to avoid hitting anything. And again, if there 
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is an unfortunate emergency where emergency vehicles, a firetruck, needs to get into the back, 
are they going to have enough room to get back there. 
 Again, our client is close by and concerned that anything could spread down because of 
the wetland right there, and also where the tanks, the new underground storage tanks, are 
proposed appears to be abutting another informational freshwater wetland, which again is kind of 
just that inkling that DEC should be involved in order to issue that determination. 
 And so again we would just ask that the public hearing remain open, that the applicant 
have some time to respond to these concerns, that, you know, they get posed on the website so 
that our office can review them along with our client’s retained engineer, provide any comments, 
and that is what our goal is. We just would like it to stay open and for these concerns to be 
addressed. We’re concerned about impacts to our client’s customers as well as their property 
itself should be there be any unfortunate accident. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Gates:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  The public hearing is open. Anyone from the public wishing to address this 
application, please step forward. 
 Board members have any comments, questions, or concerns? Yes, sir. 
 
Mr. Lee:  May I provide a brief rebuttal to counsel’s remarks, please? 
 
Mr. Capozella:  You’d like to -- sure. Go ahead. 
 
Mr. Lee:  Yes. I just want to -- I want the record to clearly reflect that the principal of the 
applicant here, Sy Kermani, had previously retained Keane & Beane to represent him on a gas 
station related matter, and I am befuddled that Keane & Beane, after accepting a retainer and 
previously representing the applicant here, stands before this Board objecting to another gas 
station business owned by his previous client. 
 So I submit that that’s a separate matter that I’m going to address with the Ethics 
Committee for a possible violation of attorney/client privilege and using information of his 
previous client to oppose an application. 
 I want to note that’s a separate legal matter I’ll address with counsel, but, you know, this 
is what happens. The real motive behind this is Gas Land is a competitor of the applicant here. 
It’s no secret that he has two other gas stations within a quarter mile radius of this location, and 
it’s interesting to note that the principal of Gas Land, Mitch, had called the applicant here and 
loved this location as a gas station and offered him a significant amount to buy him out so that he 
could finish this project. And to have him turn around to hire counsel that previously represented 
us to stand here and oppose this application, I think it’s absurdity to an extreme, and I will follow 
up and review this matter with the principal here, the applicant here, and take appropriate steps. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Your objection is noted, but there was the letter submitted. 
 
Mr. Lee:  I understand. 
Mr. Croughan:  Whether it’s going to be a conflict of interest or not, they’re going to have to 
make a determination, and if you’re going to talk to the Ethics Board about that as well -- 
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Mr. Lee:  Yes. I will do that. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  But I think at this time we would need our engineer to review those comments. 
Those comments came in today, and our engineer hasn’t had an opportunity to review those 
comments, so in fairness to everyone, I think our engineer needs to review these comments, and 
possibly our Fire Commissioner, because there was an issue raised about having sufficient room 
to get in, and maybe that needs to be looked at. 
 You know, it’s the Board’s pleasure, but my recommendation is that the meeting -- the 
public hearing be kept open to allow our engineer an opportunity to review it, and maybe they 
will side with you, sir. I’m not sure. But it’s beyond our pay grade. It’s more engineering issues 
that need to be addressed, and you could potentially contact our engineer to review those 
comments. 
 
Mr. Lee:  That’s fine. Understood. But the applicant here wanted to clearly note that this is an 
attempt by Gas Land, who has previously opposed our applications -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  It’s understood. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  So noted. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Slow down and the competition. 
 
Mr. Lee:  Right. I mean, this is an effort to monopolize a gas station business  
and -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  We understand that. 
 
Mr. Lee:  Okay. So I want the record to clearly reflect that. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  It does. 
 
Mr. Lee:  What the applicant wanted was since there was significant review done, this is an 
effort to obstruct this application to vote and maybe perhaps put conditions on approval that we 
have to go to the DEC and get their review and approval. That’s certainly an option for the Board 
members to consider because we are on a tight due diligence period. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  I understand, but that’s not our concern, your due diligence. 
 
Mr. Lee:  I understand, but I want the record to reflect that. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Again, my recommendation is to have CPL review the comments. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  The public hearing is still open. I’ll go to the Board members for any questions, 
comments, or concerns. 
 I concur with Mr. Croughan that since we got these so late, we now need them to be 
reviewed so that we don’t make any mistakes, and I’m going to put forth a motion or ask for a 
motion to adjourn for future consideration. 
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Mr. Croughan:  And before we do that, the only comment, and it’s directed at Keane & Beane, 
you need to check if there’s a conflict, and if there is a conflict, you need to get out of this. 
 With respect to if you remain in this, or any subsequent attorneys, sending in a notice on 
the day of the hearing is not acceptable. You need to give our Board an opportunity to review. 
 
Mr. Lee:  I think the damage is already done. Clearly objection by ambush to his former client, 
the damage here is done. It’s specifically calculated to do exactly that, stun this Board and leave 
the applicant in a position to waste further time. 
 Again, we’re certainly willing to comply with all legal requirements, but doing it at the 
last minute to sandbag and ambush an application like this, it’s just unacceptable, and we will 
take appropriate legal actions against the firm for doing this. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Understood. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  That being said, I need a motion so that we can adjourn for this application for 
future consideration. 
 
Motion to adjourn for future consideration by Ms. Witt, seconded by Mr. Britto. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
Action Toward Independence, Inc. 
301-307 North Street 
Counseling services and educational support 
 
Mr. Varma:  Good evening, everyone. I’m counsel for Action Toward Independence. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Excuse me one second. Gentlemen in the back, gentlemen in the back, if you 
want to have a conversation, please step out. It’s not fair to the applicant. Sorry. 
 
Mr. Varma:  Thank you, counsel. I appreciate that. So I’m the counsel for Action Toward 
Independence. This is an application for a special use permit. The premises was previously used 
by an office of Catholic Charities of Orange. Now we plan or propose to use it for conducting 
various peer counseling services and educational support. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Fantastic. Thank you. Ms. Tu, do we have the mailings? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  And I’ll open the public hearing. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Do we have anything in writing? 
 
Ms. Tu:  No. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Anyone from the public wishing to address this application, please step 
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forward. No one stepping forward, I’ll go to the Board for any questions, comments, or concerns. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Just for the Board’s clarification, Catholic Charities had utilized the building. I 
believe they still have a small portion that they use, but it was very similar to what the use the 
applicant is proposing today. 
 
Ms. Dupre:  What are the hours of operation? 
 
Mr. Varma:  Oh, hours of operation should be mostly normal business hours. I have a 
representative. She can speak for the hours. 
 
Ms. Sotelo:  Hours of operation are Monday through Friday, typically 9:00 to 5:00. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Martinez, any comments? 
 
Mr. Martinez:  No comments. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Witkowski, any comments? 
 
Mr. Witkowski:  No comments. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Anyone else from the public wishing to address this application, please step 
forward. None coming forward, I need a motion to close -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Wait. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Question? 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Madden, did you have a question? 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yes. Go ahead. I’m sorry. 
 
Mr. Madden:  Do we know like a parking situation? This is not in the DMU. Like what would be 
needed and what is existing? I think we have the existing, but how do we calculate what’s 
needed? 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Well, based on what was there previously and the activity of the cars that were 
there, it’s the same exact parking situation. It’s a continuation of a use that’s been there for quite 
some time. We have discretion for parking, but, I mean, we could calculate it, but we chose not 
to in this case because it’s an existing continuous use, so we did not, honestly did not fully 
calculate the parking. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  How many employees will you have? 
Mr. Varma:  Three employees, and with permission of the Chair, just wanted to add most of our 
visitors do not drive, so they come in vans -- 
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Mr. Capozella:  Yeah. 
 
Mr. Varma:  -- and they get dropped off kind of thing, so parking will not be a situation. We 
have 14 plus four plus two plus one like (inaudible) parking, and if you look at the Google maps 
any time of the year, you will see most of the parking empty, and there’s also street parking. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  We can’t calculate street parking. We have to take the parking that you have. 
 
Mr. Varma:  The parking itself on the premises is always nearly empty. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Understood. 
 
Mr. Madden:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Varma:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Madden, are you good? 
 
Mr. Madden:  Very much. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  All right. Thank you. 
 
Mr. Higbie:  I was just curious if -- do you have a waiting area for the people? Some of the 
concerns that we’ve had for this type of use, we’ve had issues with people congregating outside 
waiting for their appointments. Do you have like a waiting area for them or -- 
 
Ms. Sotelo:  There is a lobby already designated -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  If you can please speak in the mic. I’m sorry. 
 
Mr. Higbie:  I see shared conference room, but -- 
 
Ms. Sotelo:  Sorry. There is a lobby in the building already, but typically our consumers come 
together, and they enter into the building right away, so there’s -- 
 
Mr. Higbie:  And wait for their appointment type of thing. 
 
Ms. Sotelo:  Yeah. 
 
Mr. Higbie:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Sotelo:  So it’s more like a drop in center, so they’re coming and they’re doing crafts or 
karaoke, or they’re engaging in, you know, relaxed recreational activity with our advocates. 
 
Mr. Higbie:  Gotcha. 
Ms. Dupre:  Can you provide clarity on what type of educational support will be provided? 
 
Ms. Sotelo:  Sure. So we’re an independent living center, and we support individuals with 
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disabilities who live in the community. We have family peer advocates who assist with 
educational support, so there’s -- there’s advocacy, educational advocacy, and we’re looking to 
expand our OPWDD services, so there’s some potential for social skills groups, which are small 
groups limited to children typically with autism, and so it’s, again, it’s a peer run organization, 
nonclinical, and the education is limited to social skills, life skills. 
 
Ms. Dupre:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Varma:  It’s not really an educational institute. It’s a charitable institute. 
 And just to answer member Dan, if you look at the map, just by the entrance there’s a 
huge area marked as lobby. That’s where people are waiting for us. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Mr. Britto, did you have a question? 
 
Mr. Britto:  I don’t. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Anyone else from the Board? All right. I’ll go back to the public. Anyone 
from the public wishing to address this application, please step forward. No one coming forward, 
I need a motion to close the public hearing. 
 
Motion to close by the public hearing by Ms. Dupre, seconded by Mr. Britto. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Board, any other questions or comments? None being had,  
 
Resolution for Action Toward Independence, Inc. 301-307 North Street, counseling services and 
educational support. Motion by Mr. Britto, seconded by Mr. Madden. 
 
Roll Call Ayes:  David Madden, Richard McCormack, Andy Britto, Gretchen Witt, Yasmin 
Dupre, Dan Higbie, Anthony Capozella. 
 
Kimberly Serrano 
6-8 North Street 
Café 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Good evening. 
 
Ms. Serrano:  Good evening. I’m Kimberly Serrano. I’m looking to do a food and beverage 
location at 8 North Street. It was previously a law office. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Ms. Tu, do we have the mailings? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Do we have anything in writing? 
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Ms. Tu:  No. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. I’m going to open the public hearing. Anyone here wishing to address this 
application, please step forward. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  No one coming forward, I’ll go to the Board for any questions, comments, or 
concerns. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Martinez, any concerns? 
 
Mr. Martinez:  No concerns. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Witkowski, any concerns? 
 
Mr. Witkowski:  No concerns. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Back to the public. Anyone wishing to address this application, please 
step forward. Board members? 
 
Motion to close by the public hearing by Mr. Britto, seconded by Ms. Dupre. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Board members? I see you’re searching. 
 
Mr. Britto:  Hours of operation? I can’t find it. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  It’s in the resolution -- 
 
Mr. Britto:  Oh, it is. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  -- as 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. daily. 
 
Mr. Britto:  Got it. Apologies. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  That’s okay. Any other questions? 
 
Mr. Higbie:  I’m just verifying there’s no cooking and baking on site? You’re bringing stuff in? 
Ms. Serrano:  Yeah. No cooking. 
 
Mr. Higbie:  Okay. No cooking. 
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Ms. Serrano:  No. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Pre-baked. Okay. Anything else? 
 
Resolution for Kimberly Serrano, 6-8 North Street, café. Motion by Mr. Britto, seconded by Mr. 
Madden. 
 
Roll Call Ayes:  David Madden, Richard McCormack, Andy Britto, Gretchen Witt, Yasmin 
Dupre, Dan Higbie, Anthony Capozella. 
 
Latisha Mapp 
23-27 West Main Street 
Retail 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Good evening. 
 
Ms. Mapp:  Good evening. Oh, my God. I feel like I’m on Shark Tank. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Take your time. 
 
Ms. Mapp:  So my name’s Latisha. This is my husband, Brelan, and why am I nervous? Okay. 
We’re the owners of NC Med Wigs, formerly known as Crown. 
 So we are opening, well, we anticipate on opening a retail storefront that offers medical 
wigs for women with cancer or experiencing chronic hair loss, so that could be alopecia or 
unexpected hair loss, along with hair toppers, toupées, extensions, and general hair accessories. 
 
Mr. Mapp:  How you doing? The location will be open -- we’ve been operating for five years, 
and our focus is serving individuals experiencing medical hair-related hair loss, including clients 
undergoing cancer treatment and other conditions. 
 Our goal is to provide a comfortable, respectful environment and support people dealing 
with difficult transitions. The location is 23 West Main Street, right in the historical Middletown 
district. Our business hours would be from 10:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m., and we’ll be closed on 
Sundays. 
 We are committed to serving the Middletown community, and we’re really looking 
forward to establishing our space and being a positive presence here. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Thank you. All right. I’m going to open the public hearing. Anyone wishing to 
address -- 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Di you ask if we had mailings? 
 
Mr. Capozella:  I think I did. That’s why -- I’ll do it again. 
 Do we have the mailings? 
 
Ms. Tu:  Yes, we do. 
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Mr. Capozella:  Yes. Anything in writing? 
 
Ms. Tu:  No. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  No. Okay. Sorry. I’ll open the public hearing. Anyone here wishing to address 
this application, please step forward. 
 
The public hearing was opened. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  None coming forward, I’ll address the Board. Any questions, comments, or 
concerns? 
 I do have one item I have to bring up is that according to your application, our resolution 
states that Monday through Friday, 9:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m., and Saturday and Sunday, 10:00 a.m. 
to 9:00 p.m. Are you okay with those hours? 
 
Mr. Croughan:  It’s better to ask for more than less. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yes. 
 
Ms. Mapp:  Yeah. That’s what Martinez told me. Yeah. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yeah. You can always work less. 
 
Ms. Mapp:  Yeah. That’s fine. Those hours are fine. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Mapp:  Yeah. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Just verifying. Okay. 
 Ms. Witt, you had a question? 
 
Ms. Dupre:  I was going to say I think that’s a question with multiple -- 
 
Ms. Witt:  Yeah. We’re all on the same page. 
 
Ms. Dupre:  A few of us were going to ask because you said you were going to be closed on 
Sundays. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. We’re all on the same page. Good. 
 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Martinez? 
 
Mr. Martinez:  No concerns. 
Mr. Croughan:  Mr. Witkowski? 
 
Mr. Witkowski:  No concerns. 
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Mr. Croughan:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Mr. Britto. 
 
Mr. Britto:  Is this the property where the back entrance is onto the outdoor area for a restaurant 
we just talked about last month? 
 
Mr. Mapp:  No. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  No. 
 
Mr. Mapp:  The opposite side. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  No. 
 
Mr. Britto:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Yup. It’s next to it, but there’s no entrance out the back. 
 
Mr. Britto:  Gotcha. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Okay. Any other questions? Anyone here from the public wishing to address this 
application, please step forward. 
 
Motion to close by the public hearing by Mr. Britto, seconded by Mr. Madden. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
The public hearing was closed. 
 
Mr. Capozella:  Board, any more questions? 
 
Resolution for Latisha Mapp, 23-37 West Main Street, retail. Motion by Ms. Witt, seconded by 
Ms. Dupre. 
 
Roll Call Ayes:  David Madden, Richard McCormack, Andy Britto, Gretchen Witt, Yasmin 
Dupre, Dan Higbie, Anthony Capozella. 
 
Motion to adjourn by Mr. Britto, seconded by Ms. Witt. 
 
Motion passed. 
 
Adjourned 7:50 p.m. 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Diane Genender, Transcriber 
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______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 

Request of Bell Flavors and Fragrances, Inc., seeking a special use permit and site plan 
approval for a building expansion/connection located at 12 Sprague Avenue, Middletown 

 

WHEREAS, Bell Flavors and Fragrances filed an application with the Planning Board of the 
City of Middletown seeking a special use permit and site plan approval for a building 
expansion/connection, located at 12-18 Sprague Avenue, Middletown. Section 36, Block 1, Lot 
9., located in the I-1 zone which is a permitted use. 
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type II action as it falls 
under the maintenance/repair and upgrade section.  Therefore, no further review is necessary and 
Lead agency and Negative Declaration is not required, and 
  
WHEREAS, at said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 
recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 



hereby approves the application of Bell Flavors and Fragrances for a special use permit and site 
plan approval for a building expansion/connection, located at 12-18 Sprague Avenue, 
Middletown. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable. 
In addition, if throughout any of the review process the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through on and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. Filed with the Clerk of the  
  
 
Prepared by:  
 
Attachments: 
1. Planning Board Application W_Owner's Endorsement_Signed 8.11.25 
2. 24-353 Short EAF 
3. 10-20-25 BELL FLAVORS 
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Short Environmental Assessment Form 
Part 1 - Project Information 

Instructions for Completing 

Part 1 – Project Information.  The applicant or project sponsor is responsible for the completion of Part 1.  Responses become part of the 
application for approval or funding, are subject to public review, and may be subject to further verification.  Complete Part 1 based on 
information currently available.  If additional research or investigation would be needed to fully respond to any item, please answer as 
thoroughly as possible based on current information. 

Complete all items in Part 1. You may also provide any additional information which you believe will be needed by or useful to the 
lead agency; attach additional pages as necessary to supplement any item. 

Part 1 – Project and Sponsor Information 

Name of Action or Project: 

Project Location (describe, and attach a location map): 

Brief Description of Proposed Action: 

Name of Applicant or Sponsor: Telephone: 

E-Mail:
Address: 

City/PO: State: Zip Code: 

1. Does the proposed action only involve the legislative adoption of a plan, local law, ordinance,
administrative rule, or regulation?

If Yes, attach a narrative description of the intent of the proposed action and the environmental resources that 
may be affected in the municipality and proceed to Part 2.  If no, continue to question 2. 

NO YES 

2. Does the proposed action require a permit, approval or funding from any other government Agency?
If Yes, list agency(s) name and permit or approval:

NO YES 

3. a. Total acreage of the site of the proposed action?     __________ acres 
b. Total acreage to be physically disturbed?     __________ acres 
c. Total acreage (project site and any contiguous properties) owned

or controlled by the applicant or project sponsor?     __________ acres 

4. Check all land uses that occur on, are adjoining or near the proposed action:

5.        Urban       Rural (non-agriculture)               Industrial            Commercial          Residential (suburban) 

                         Aquatic              Other(Specify):□  Forest          Agriculture

□  Parkland 

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90156.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90178.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90533.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90533.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90380.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90372.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90372.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90372.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90372.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90390.html
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5. Is the proposed action,

a. A permitted use under the zoning regulations?

b. Consistent with the adopted comprehensive plan?

NO YES N/A 

6. Is the proposed action consistent with the predominant character of the existing built or natural landscape?
NO YES 

7. Is the site of the proposed action located in, or does it adjoin, a state listed Critical Environmental Area?

If Yes, identify: ________________________________________________________________________________ 

NO YES 

8. a.    Will the proposed action result in a substantial increase in traffic above present levels?

b. Are public transportation services available at or near the site of the proposed action?

c. Are any pedestrian accommodations or bicycle routes available on or near the site of the proposed
action?

NO YES 

9. Does the proposed action meet or exceed the state energy code requirements?

If the proposed action will exceed requirements, describe design features and technologies:

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________

NO YES 

10. Will the proposed action connect to an existing public/private water supply?

If No, describe method for providing potable water: _________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

NO YES 

11. Will the proposed action connect to existing wastewater utilities?

If No, describe method for providing wastewater treatment: ______________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

NO YES 

12.  a. Does the project site contain, or is it substantially contiguous to, a building, archaeological site, or district 
which is listed on the National or State Register of Historic Places, or that has been determined by the 
Commissioner of the NYS Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation to be eligible for listing on the 
State Register of Historic Places?

archaeological sites on the NY State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) archaeological site inventory?

NO YES 

13. a.   Does any portion of the site of the proposed action, or lands adjoining the proposed action, contain
wetlands or other waterbodies regulated by a federal, state or local agency?

b. Would the proposed action physically alter, or encroach into, any existing wetland or waterbody?

If Yes, identify the wetland or waterbody and extent of alterations in square feet or acres: _____________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

NO YES 

b. Is the project site, or any portion of it, located in or adjacent to an area designated as sensitive for

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90444.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90444.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90449.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90454.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90470.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90492.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90497.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90507.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90517.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90517.html
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14. Identify the typical habitat types that occur on, or are likely to be found on the project site. Check all that apply:

□Shoreline     □ Forest       Agricultural/grasslands        Early mid-successional

Wetland       □ Urban       Suburban 

15. Does the site of the proposed action contain any species of animal, or associated habitats, listed by the State or
Federal government as threatened or endangered?

NO YES 

16. Is the project site located in the 100-year flood plan? NO YES 

17. Will the proposed action create storm water discharge, either from point or non-point sources?
If Yes,

a. Will storm water discharges flow to adjacent properties?

b. Will storm water discharges be directed to established conveyance systems (runoff and storm drains)?
If Yes, briefly describe: 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

NO YES 

18. Does the proposed action include construction or other activities that would result in the impoundment of water
or other liquids (e.g., retention pond, waste lagoon, dam)?

If Yes, explain the purpose and size of the impoundment:______________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________

_ 

NO YES 

19. Has the site of the proposed action or an adjoining property been the location of an active or closed solid waste
management facility?

If Yes, describe: _______________________________________________________________________________ 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

NO YES 

20.Has the site of the proposed action or an adjoining property been the subject of remediation (ongoing or
completed)            for hazardous waste?
If Yes, describe: _______________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

NO YES 

I CERTIFY THAT THE INFORMATION PROVIDED ABOVE IS TRUE AND ACCURATE TO THE BEST OF 
MY KNOWLEDGE 

    Date: _____________________ Applicant/sponsor/name: ____________________________________________________ __________________________   

Signature: _____________________________________________________Title:__________________________________

http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90194.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90545.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90545.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90565.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90575.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90580.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90580.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90585.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90585.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90590.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90590.html
http://www.dec.ny.gov/permits/90595.html
rg
Typewriter
1. Remediation Site ~2000 feet north-west of the project site,1 Union St, Middletown, NY 10940 



rg_1
Typewriter
Site Name: Erie Way Post Office Site. Site Code: V00580. Program: Voluntary Cleanup Program. Classification: N(No Further Action at this Time)

rg_2
Typewriter
Note: Will have no effect on remediation sites

jb
Text Box
Ryan D Fellenzer



EAF Mapper Summary Report Thursday, July 10, 2025 8:13 AM

Disclaimer:   The EAF Mapper is a screening tool intended to assist 
project sponsors and reviewing agencies in preparing an environmental 
assessment form (EAF). Not all questions asked in the EAF are 
answered by the EAF Mapper. Additional information on any EAF 
question can be obtained by consulting the EAF Workbooks. Although 
the EAF Mapper provides the most up-to-date digital data available to 
DEC, you may also need to contact local or other data sources to 
confirm data provided by the Mapper or to obtain data not provided by 
the Mapper.

Part 1 / Question 7  [Critical Environmental 
Area]

No

Part 1 / Question 12a  [National or State 
Register of Historic Places or State Eligible 
Sites]

Yes

Part 1 / Question 12b  [Archeological Sites] No

Part 1 / Question 13a [Wetlands or Other 
Regulated Waterbodies]

Digital mapping data are not available or are incomplete. Refer to EAF 
Workbook.

Part 1 / Question 15 [Threatened or 
Endangered Animal]

No

Part 1 / Question 16 [100 Year Flood Plain] No

Part 1 / Question 20 [Remediation Site] Yes

1Short Environmental Assessment Form - EAF Mapper Summary Report
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CITY OF MIDDLETOWN, NEW YORK 
PLANNING BOARD 
RECORD OF VOTE 

 
THE FOLLOWING WAS PRESENTED 
 
By: None 
Seconded by: None 
Date of Adoption: December 3, 2025 
Resolution Number  
 
  

Names Ayes Noes Abstain Absent 

Mr. 
Madden 

    

Mr. 
Mccormack 

    

Mr. Britto     

Mrs. Witt     

Mrs. Dupre     

Mr. Higbie     

Chairman 
Cappozella 

    

Total     
Filed with the Clerk of the City of Middletown 
on:  December 3, 2025 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 

Request of Dreamfields, Inc., seeking a special use permit and site plan approval for 
manufacturing and distribution of cannabis products, located at 55 Midland Avenue Ext., 

Middletown 
 

WHEREAS, of Dreamfields, Inc., filed an application with the Planning Board of the City of 
Middletown seeking a special use permit and site plan approval for manufacturing and 
distribution of cannabis products, located at 55 Midland Avenue Ext., Middletown. Section 9, 
Block 1, Lot 1., located in the I-2 Zone, which is a permitted use.  
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type Unlisted action as 
it is not determined yet what the potential impact may be.  Lead Agency must be established to 
make a determination of significance by comparing the potential impacts of the action against the 
criteria listed in the SEQRA regulations.  Therefore, a further review is necessary and a Negative 
Declaration may be required at the appropriate time, and 
  
WHEREAS, at the said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 



recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of Dreamfields, Inc., for a special use permit and site plan 
approval for manufacturing and distribution of cannabis products, located at 55 Midland Avenue 
Ext., Middletown  
  
Hours of operation: Mon. – Fri. 1st Shift 6:00am-3:00pm, 2nd Shift 3:30pm, Sat. 6:00am-3:00pm 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable.  
  
In addition, if throughout any of the review process the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remained unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
  
 
Prepared by:  
 
Attachments: 
1. City of Middletown Planning Board Application - Signed 
2. Signed EAF 
3. 11-13-25 - DREAMFIELDS 
 



55 Midland Ave Ext

9 1 1 I-2

X

Mazel Midland, LLC

23 Schunnemunk Rd Unit 101

Monroe NY 10950

Dreamfields Inc.

978-815-9925

65000 Two Bunch palms Trail

Desert Hotspings CA 92240



475-25

475-25 15,000 SF
20 ft

10 ft
N/A
N/A

475-33 1 per 400 SF of Floor Area

Manufacturing of cannabis products and distrubtion 

Not including retail of products

Vacant 

126.5 ft
660 ft

Manufacturing

jb_1
Line





Daniel Bouchard - National Expansion Director 

5/1/2025
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CITY OF MIDDLETOWN, NEW YORK 
PLANNING BOARD 
RECORD OF VOTE 

 
THE FOLLOWING WAS PRESENTED 
 
By: None 
Seconded by: None 
Date of Adoption: December 3, 2025 
Resolution Number  
 
  

Names Ayes Noes Abstain Absent 

Mr. 
Madden 

    

Mr. 
Mccormack 

    

Mr. Britto     

Mrs. Witt     

Mrs. Dupre     

Mr. Higbie     

Chairman 
Cappozella 

    

Total     
Filed with the Clerk of the City of Middletown 
on:  December 3, 2025 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 

Request of Middletown Commons LLC., seeking a special use permit and site plan 
approval for a development of 150 residential units and approximately 27,000 sq. ft. of 

commercial space, located at 203-231 Dolson Avenue, Middletown 
 

WHEREAS, of Middletown Commons LLC., filed an application with the Planning Board of the 
City of Middletown seeking a special use permit and site plan approval for a mixed-use 
development of 150 residential units and approximately 27,000 sq. ft. of commercial space, 
located at 203-231 Dolson Avenue, Middletown. Section 49, Block 1, Lot 7.5, located in the C-3 
Zone, which is a permitted use.  
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type I action as it is a 
project that is more likely to have a significant adverse environmental impact, and therefore 
requires a more extensive review.   Therefore, a further review is necessary and Lead agency and 
Negative Declaration will be required at the appropriate time, and 
  
WHEREAS, at said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 



recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of Middletown Commons LLC., for a special use permit and site 
plan approval for a mixed-use development of 150 residential units and approximately 27,000 sq. 
ft. of commercial space, located at 203-231 Dolson Avenue, Middletown. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable. 
  
In addition, if, throughout any of the review process, the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through on and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, the applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
  
 
Prepared by:  
 
Attachments: 
1. 203-231 dolson 
2. MT Commons_Planning Submission Drawings_Updated 092420 
3. 2025-04-04 Middletown Commons Full Set 
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A1.01

Schematic First Floor Plan (24,600 SF Footprint)

Scale: 3/32" = 1'-0"
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APT UNIT #216
2 BEDROOM

(800 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #215
2 BEDROOM

(800 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #208
1 BEDROOM

(640 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #213
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #211
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #214
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #212
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #207
3 BEDROOM

(1,065 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #201
3 BEDROOM

(1,115 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #202
2 BEDROOM

(900 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #206
3 BEDROOM

(1,115 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #203
2 BEDROOM

(800 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #204
2 BEDROOM

(800 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #205
2 BEDROOM

(900 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #209
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #210
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #224
1 BEDROOM

(640 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #217
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #219
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #218
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #220
1 BEDROOM

(600 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #223
3 BEDROOM

(1,065 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #225
3 BEDROOM

(1,115 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #226
2 BEDROOM

(900 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #230
3 BEDROOM

(1,115 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #227
2 BEDROOM

(800 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #228
2 BEDROOM

(800 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #229
2 BEDROOM

(900 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #221
2 BEDROOM

(800 SF+/-)

APT UNIT #222
2 BEDROOM

(800 SF+/-)
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Date: September 24, 2020

Revisions:

Joseph G. Thompson Architect, PLLC
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NOTES:

IT IS A VIOLATION OF THE LAW FOR

A N Y  P E R S O N ,  U N L E S S  A C T I N G

U N D E R  T H E  D I R E C T I O N  O F  A

LICENSED ARCHITECT OR ENGINEER,

TO ALTER AN ITEM IN ANY WAY. IF AN

ITEM BEARING THE SEAL  OF  AN

A R C H I T E C T  O R  E N G I N E E R  I S

ALTERED, THE ALTERING ARCHITECT

OR ENGINEER SHALL AFFIX TO HIS

ITEM THE SEAL AND THE NOTATION

"ALTERED BY" FOLLOWED BY HIS

SIGNATURE AND THE DATE OF SUCH

A L T E R A T I O N ,  A N D  A  S P E C I F I C

DESCRIPTION OF THE ALTERATION.

D O  N O T  S C A L E  D R A W I N G S .

WRITTEN DIMENSIONS GOVERN.

© JOSEPH G THOMPSON ARCHITECT,

P LL C.   AL L  R I GHT S RES ER VED .
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A1.02

Typical Schematic Floor Plan Diagram Floors 2-6 (27,640 SF Footprint)

Scale: 3/32" = 1'-0"
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CITY OF MIDDLETOWN, NEW YORK 
PLANNING BOARD 
RECORD OF VOTE 

 
THE FOLLOWING WAS PRESENTED 
 
By: None 
Seconded by: None 
Date of Adoption: December 3, 2025 
Resolution Number  
 
  

Names Ayes Noes Abstain Absent 

Mr. 
Madden 

    

Mr. 
Mccormack 

    

Mr. Britto     

Mrs. Witt     

Mrs. Dupre     

Mr. Higbie     

Chairman 
Cappozella 

    

Total     
Filed with the Clerk of the City of Middletown 
on:  December 3, 2025 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 
Request of Sarah Bauersachs, seeking a site plan approval and a special use permit to have 

an eating and drinking establishment (acai/smoothie shop) located at 23-27 West Main 
Street, Middletown 

 

WHEREAS, Sarah Bauersachs filed an application with the Planning Board of the City of 
Middletown seeking a special use permit and site plan approval in order to have an eating and 
drinking establishment (acai/smoothie shop), located at 23-27 West Main Street, Middletown. 
Section 31, Block 10, Lot 15, located in the DMU Zone, which is a permitted use. 
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025 at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type II action as it falls 
under the maintenance/repair and upgrade section.  Therefore, no further review is necessary and 
Lead agency and Negative Declaration is not required, and 
  
WHEREAS, at said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 
recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 
  



NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of Sarah Bauersachs for a special use permit and site plan 
approval for an eating and drinking establishment (acai/smoothie shop), located at 23-27 West 
Main Street, Middletown. There will be no cooking on the premises and no beer, wine or liquor 
served. 
  
Hours of operation are 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. daily. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable. 
In addition, if throughout any of the review process, the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval from the Department of Public Works according to Chapter 407 Solid Waste, Article II 
Collection, §407-3, Collection, and comply with this section and any other sections enacted by 
the Common Council from this date forward. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval on all façade work, exterior work in general and exterior signage from the Architectural 
Review Board. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, the Planning Board waives parking 
requirements as per the code. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
  
 



Prepared by:  
 
Attachments: 
1. 23-27 west main-004 
 

















 

CITY OF MIDDLETOWN, NEW YORK 
PLANNING BOARD 
RECORD OF VOTE 

 
THE FOLLOWING WAS PRESENTED 
 
By: None 
Seconded by: None 
Date of Adoption: December 3, 2025 
Resolution Number  
 
  

Names Ayes Noes Abstain Absent 

Mr. 
Madden 

    

Mr. 
Mccormack 

    

Mr. Britto     

Mrs. Witt     

Mrs. Dupre     

Mr. Higbie     

Chairman 
Cappozella 

    

Total     
Filed with the Clerk of the City of Middletown 
on:  December 3, 2025 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 

Request of BDK Masonry and Construction Corp. seeking a special use permit and site 
plan approval for an eating and drinking establishment with beer and wine, located at 101 

North Street, Middletown 
 

WHEREAS, BDK Masonry and Construction Corp. filed an application with the Planning Board 
of the City of Middletown seeking a special use permit and site plan approval in order to have an 
eating and drinking establishment with a beer and wine license in accordance with the SLA 
regulations under OP 252, located at 101 North Street, Middletown. Section 31, Block 2, Lot 12, 
located in the DMU Zone, which is a permitted use. 
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type II action as it falls 
under the maintenance/repair and upgrade section.  Therefore, no further review is necessary and 
Lead agency and Negative Declaration is not required, and 
  
WHEREAS, at said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 
recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 



  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of BDK Masonry and Construction Corp. for a special use 
permit and site plan approval for an eating and drinking establishment with beer and wine, 
located at 101 North Street, Middletown. Subject to SLA approval. 
  
Hours of operation are 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. daily. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable. 
In addition, if throughout any of the review process, the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval from the Department of Public Works according to Chapter 407 Solid Waste, Article II 
Collection, §407-3, Collection, and comply with this section and any other sections enacted by 
the Common Council from this date forward. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval on all façade work, exterior work in general and exterior signage from the Architectural 
Review Board. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, the Planning Board waives parking 
requirements as per the code. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
  
 



Prepared by:  
 
Attachments: 
1. 101 north-001 
 











 

CITY OF MIDDLETOWN, NEW YORK 
PLANNING BOARD 
RECORD OF VOTE 

 
THE FOLLOWING WAS PRESENTED 
 
By: None 
Seconded by: None 
Date of Adoption: December 3, 2025 
Resolution Number  
 
  

Names Ayes Noes Abstain Absent 

Mr. 
Madden 

    

Mr. 
Mccormack 

    

Mr. Britto     

Mrs. Witt     

Mrs. Dupre     

Mr. Higbie     

Chairman 
Cappozella 

    

Total     
Filed with the Clerk of the City of Middletown 
on:  December 3, 2025 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 

Request of Kai Lee and Courtenay Irving, seeking a site plan approval and a special use 
permit to have an art studio located at 41 Fulton Street, Middletown 

 

WHEREAS, Kai Lee and Courtenay Irving, seeking a special use permit and site plan approval 
in order to have an art studio/ Theater Scenery/ Theater Props, located at 41 Fulton Street, 
Middletown, Section 35, Block 3, Lot 22, located in the DMU Zone which is a permitted use. 
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type II action as it falls 
under the maintenance/repair and upgrade section.  Therefore, no further review is necessary and 
Lead agency and Negative Declaration is not required, and 
  
WHEREAS, at said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 
recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of Kai Lee and Courtenay Irving, for a special use permit and 



site plan approval in order to have an art studio/Theater Scenery/ Theater Props, located at 41 
Fulton Street, Middletown. 
  
Hours of operation are 8AM-6PM daily. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable.   
In addition, if throughout any of the review process the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, the applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable.  The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval from the Department of Public Works according to Chapter 407 Solid Waste, Article II 
Collection, §407-3, Collection, and comply with this section and any other sections enacted by 
the Common Council from this date forward. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval on all façade work, exterior work in general and exterior signage from the Architectural 
Review Board. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, the Planning Board waives parking 
requirements as per the code. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
  
 
Prepared by:  
 
Attachments: 



1. 41 fulton-001 
 















 

CITY OF MIDDLETOWN, NEW YORK 
PLANNING BOARD 
RECORD OF VOTE 

 
THE FOLLOWING WAS PRESENTED 
 
By: None 
Seconded by: None 
Date of Adoption: December 3, 2025 
Resolution Number  
 
  

Names Ayes Noes Abstain Absent 

Mr. 
Madden 

    

Mr. 
Mccormack 

    

Mr. Britto     

Mrs. Witt     

Mrs. Dupre     

Mr. Higbie     

Chairman 
Cappozella 

    

Total     
Filed with the Clerk of the City of Middletown 
on:  December 3, 2025 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 
Request of Allen Alvarez Gonzalez, seeking a special use permit and site plan approval for 
grocery, deli, coffee shop, UPS and Amazon drop off and Western Union service, located at 

154 Wickham Avenue, Middletown 
 

WHEREAS, Allen Alvarez Gonzalez filed an application with the Planning Board of the City of 
Middletown seeking a special use permit and site plan approval for grocery, deli (with cooking 
on premises), coffee shop, UPS and Amazon drop off and Western Union service, located at 154 
Wickham Avenue, Middletown. Section 26, Block 5, Lot 1., located in the C-1A zone, which is a 
permitted use. 
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type II action as it falls 
under the maintenance/repair and upgrade section.  Therefore, no further review is necessary and 
Lead agency and Negative Declaration is not required, and 
  
WHEREAS, at said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 
recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 



  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of Allen Alvarez Gonzalez for a special use permit and site plan 
approval for grocery, deli (with cooking on premises), coffee shop, UPS and Amazon drop off 
and Western Union service, located at 154 Wickham Avenue, Middletown. There will be no 
beer, wine or alcohol served. 
  
Hours of Operation: 5:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. daily. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable. 
In addition, if throughout any of the review process the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through on and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
  
 
Prepared by:  
 
Attachments: 
1. 154 wickham-002 
 















 

CITY OF MIDDLETOWN, NEW YORK 
PLANNING BOARD 
RECORD OF VOTE 

 
THE FOLLOWING WAS PRESENTED 
 
By: None 
Seconded by: None 
Date of Adoption: December 3, 2025 
Resolution Number  
 
  

Names Ayes Noes Abstain Absent 

Mr. 
Madden 

    

Mr. 
Mccormack 

    

Mr. Britto     

Mrs. Witt     

Mrs. Dupre     

Mr. Higbie     

Chairman 
Cappozella 

    

Total     
Filed with the Clerk of the City of Middletown 
on:  December 3, 2025 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 

Request of Jean Ketlet Clerger, seeking a special use permit and site plan approval for a 
barbershop, located at 30-32 East Main Street, Middletown 

 

WHEREAS, Jean Ketlet Clerger, seeking a special use permit and site plan approval in order to 
have a barber shop, located at 30-32 East Main Street, Middletown. Section 35, Block 5, Lot 
7.2., located in the DMU Zone, which is a permitted use. 
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type II action as it falls 
under the maintenance/repair and upgrade section.  Therefore, no further review is necessary, 
and Lead agency and Negative Declaration is not required, and 
  
WHEREAS, at the said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 
recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 
  
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of Jean Ketlet Clerger, for a special use permit and site plan 



approval in order to have a barber shop, located at 30-32 East Main Street, Middletown. 
  
Hours of operation are 10AM-8PM daily. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable.   
In addition, if throughout any of the review process the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through on and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, the applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval from the Department of Public Works according to Chapter 407 Solid Waste, Article II 
Collection, §407-3, Collection, and comply with this section and any other sections enacted by 
the Common Council from this date forward. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval on all façade work, exterior work in general and exterior signage from the Architectural 
Review Board. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, the Planning Board waives parking 
requirements as per the code. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
  
 
Prepared by:  
 
Attachments: 
1. 30-32 east main 



 

















 

CITY OF MIDDLETOWN, NEW YORK 
PLANNING BOARD 
RECORD OF VOTE 

 
THE FOLLOWING WAS PRESENTED 
 
By: None 
Seconded by: None 
Date of Adoption: December 3, 2025 
Resolution Number  
 
  

Names Ayes Noes Abstain Absent 

Mr. 
Madden 

    

Mr. 
Mccormack 

    

Mr. Britto     

Mrs. Witt     

Mrs. Dupre     

Mr. Higbie     

Chairman 
Cappozella 

    

Total     
Filed with the Clerk of the City of Middletown 
on:  December 3, 2025 
 
______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 
Request of Colin M. Smith, seeking a site plan approval and a special use permit to have an 

eating and drinking establishment with a full liquor license located at 28-30 West Main 
Street, Middletown 

 

WHEREAS, Colin Smith, seeking a special use permit and site plan approval in order to have an 
eating and drinking establishment with a full liquor license, in accordance with the SLA 
regulations under OP 252, located at 28-30 West Main Street, Middletown, Section 35, Block 3, 
Lot 1, located in the DMU Zone which is a permitted use. 
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type II action as it falls 
under the maintenance/repair and upgrade section.  Therefore, no further review is necessary and 
Lead agency and Negative Declaration is not required, and 
  
WHEREAS, at the said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 
recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 
  



NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of Colin Smith, for a special use permit and site plan approval in 
order to have an eating and drinking establishment with full liquor license, located at 28-30 West 
Main Street, Middletown. Subject to SLA approval. 
  
Hours of operation are Sunday-Thursday 12PM-12AM, Friday and Saturday 12PM-2AM. 
Applicant will comply with DMU hours of operation. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable.   
In addition, if throughout any of the review process the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, SLA approval for full liquor license, and PB 
Attorney’s recommendations. Information submitted within the application will become part of 
the record, and the applicant will follow through and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, the applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval from the Department of Public Works according to Chapter 407 Solid Waste, Article II 
Collection, §407-3, Collection, and comply with this section and any other sections enacted by 
the Common Council from this date forward. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval on all façade work, exterior work in general and exterior signage from the Architectural 
Review Board. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, the Planning Board waives parking 
requirements as per the code. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
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______________________________________________________ 
Richard P. McCormack 
Request of Angel Gonzalez, seeking a site plan approval and a special use permit to have an 
eating and drinking establishment located at 79 West Main Street, Middletown. Section 31, 

Block 12, Lot 2. 
 

WHEREAS, Angel Gonzalez filed an application with the Planning Board of the City of 
Middletown seeking a special use permit and site plan approval in order to have an eating and 
drinking establishment located at 79 West Main Street, Middletown. Section 31, Block 12, Lot 2, 
located in the DMU Zone, which is a permitted use. 
  
WHEREAS, after due notice, a public hearing was held by the Planning Board on December 3, 
2025, at 7:00 p.m. in the Common Council Chambers, City Hall, Middletown, New York, and 
  
WHEREAS, according to the SEQRA review, this is determined to be a Type II action as it falls 
under the maintenance/repair and upgrade section.  Therefore, no further review is necessary and 
Lead agency and Negative Declaration is not required, and 
  
WHEREAS, at the said hearing, all those who desired to be heard were heard and their testimony 
recorded, and all testimony has been carefully considered. 
  



NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Planning Board of the City of Middletown 
hereby approves the application of Angel Gonzalez for a special use permit and site plan 
approval for an eating and drinking establishment, located at 79 West Main Street, Middletown. 
There will be no beer, wine or liquor served. 
  
Hours of operation are 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. daily. 
  
SUBJECT TO: City of Middletown DPW and City of Middletown Fire Department inspections 
and approvals and, when necessary, approval of the Commissioner of Public Works.  
The applicant will obtain all necessary permits and follow the permitting process, codes, and 
ordinances of the City of Middletown, County of Orange, and the State of New York, if 
applicable. 
In addition, if throughout any of the review process, the project is deemed to require Bulk 
Requirement Tables, the applicant will supply said tables through an architect or engineer 
licensed in the State of New York.  
  
SUBJECT TO: Any items as stated in: submitted PB application, Public Hearing, Board 
discussion, City Inspectors’ input, PB Engineer, and PB Attorney’s recommendations. 
Information submitted within the application will become part of the record, and the applicant 
will follow through on and be held to. 
  
THEREFORE: The applicant is only allowed to use the space as designated in the application 
and resolution. Any changes in building structure and/or use, the applicant will need to seek PB 
approval, if applicable. The applicant will be required to pay any outstanding fees, such as, 
application fees and professional fees, if any.  If these remain unpaid after a 10-day notice to 
cure, the approval will be rescinded, and it will be a violation to continue to operate/rent/lease 
space. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval from the Department of Public Works according to Chapter 407 Solid Waste, Article II 
Collection, §407-3, Collection, and comply with this section and any other sections enacted by 
the Common Council from this date forward. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, applicants must submit and receive 
approval on all façade work, exterior work in general and exterior signage from the Architectural 
Review Board. 
  
WHEREAS this application is located in the DMU Zone, the Planning Board waives parking 
requirements as per the code. 
  
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the City of Middletown Code, Chapter 475, Article 4, Administration 
and Enforcement, Chapter 475-53, Paragraph E-6, unless work is commenced and diligently 
prosecuted within six months and completed within two years of the date of granting a Special 
Use Permit, such Special Use Permit shall be null and void.  
If no work is done in the next six months, the applicant will need to submit a request for a six-
month extension of the Planning Board approval. 
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